INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

IN RE HOME HEALTH : CIVIL ACTION
CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC. :
SECURITIES LITIGATION

NO. 98-834

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

YOHN, J. January , 1999

This action is brought by several plaintiffs who seek to represent the class of investors
who purchased the stock of Home Health Corporation of America, Inc. (“HHCA™), between
September 3, 1997, and February 10, 1998." HHCA provides home health care services and
products, including respiratory therapy, nursing services, infusion therapy and durable medical
equipment, primarily to patients of managed care organizations, and patients who are reimbursed
by either Medicare or Medicaid. The plaintiffs claim that HHCA and three of its officers?
violated the federal securities law by making false or misleading statements concerning HHCA'’s
financial health and by omitting material information from its public disclosures which made

those disclosures false or misleading. Both the HHCA Defendants and Colburn filed motions to

! Plaintiffs motion for class certification has been stayed pending the resolution of the
defendants' motions to dismiss.

2 Three of HHCA's officers are named as individual defendantsin this action. Bruce
Feldman (“Feldman™), the President, CEO and Chair of HHCA’s Board of Directors, and Joseph
Sterensis (“ Sterensis”), the Vice President of Florida Operations, are represented by HHCA'’s
counsel. HHCA, Feldman, and Sterensis will be referred to as the “HHCA Defendants.”
Defendant Bruce Colburn (“Colburn™), who was Chief Financial Officer of HHCA until his
resignation on December 18, 1997, is separately represented.
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dismiss the consolidated amended complaint under Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b), and 12(b)(6), claiming
that the plaintiffs have not adequately alleged the elements of afraud or misrepresentation cause
of action under the federal securitieslaws. For the reasons described below, the defendants
motions will be granted, as described below, and plaintiffs will be permitted to amend their
complaint in accordance with this memorandum.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On September 3, 1997, HHCA issued a press release announcing its financial results for
its fourth quarter and fiscal year which ended on June 30, 1997. These results reported a 77.9%
increase in net revenues over the fourth quarter of the preceding year, and revealed that the
company had taken a non-recurring charge against earnings to increase its accounts receivable
reserves by $3 million. See Complaint, 14, 61. The press release a'so commented on the
company’ s continuing efforts to resolve payment problems with its managed care organization
(“MCQ”) clients, and stated that the $3 million increase in reserves “reflect[s] management’s
estimate of any potential further exposure.” Complaint, §61. HHCA further “believe[d] that
stronger controls, which implementation is nearing completion in its distribution of products and
services and increased resources devoted to collection activities will reduce bad debt expense as
a percentage of net revenuesto levels historically provided.” 1d.

HHCA filed its annual report, on Form 10-K, for fiscal year 1997 with the SEC on
October 28, 1997. See Complaint,  71. The Form 10-K emphasized the importance of MCO
clientsto HHCA' s future growth and reported that net revenues from MCO’ s were expected to
“increase significantly,” especialy because HHCA had formed anew division to strengthen its

relationships with MCO’s. Complaint, 1 71-73. HHCA included HIP Network of Florida, Inc.



(“HIP") on alist of MCO’swith which it had contracts. See Complaint, §76. The report also
contained a genera discussion of the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 (“BBA”), passed in August,
1997, which reduced Medicare reimbursements for home oxygen services by 25%, beginning on
January 1, 1998, and reduced reimbursement levels for home nursing care, beginning for most of
HHCA'’ s nursing operationsin July, 1998. See Complaint, 1 51-53; Balanced Budget Act of
1997, Pub. L. No. 105-33, 111 Stat. 251. Although the Form 10-K mentioned the BBA’s
reimbursement reductions, it concluded that the effect of the nursing care reductions “cannot be
predicted with any level of certainty,” and that the “reduction in oxygen reimbursement could
have amateria adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.”
Appendix to HHCA Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (“Appendix”), Ex. F, a 16, 36.

HHCA then issued a press release on November 5, 1997, reporting that its net revenues
for the first quarter of itsfiscal year 1998, which ended on September 30, 1997, had increased
78.5% over the prior year’ sfirst quarter results. See Complaint, § 78. HHCA explained that the
basis for its earnings growth was the company’ s “ one-stop-shop strategy of providing cost-
effective comprehensive health care services and products to managed care organizations and
other payors.” Complaint, § 79. Theformal first quarter report, filed with the SEC on December
2, 1997, on Form 10-Q, reiterated the earnings results announced on November 5, and noted that
provisions for doubtful accounts, which had increased by $378,000 in that quarter, were

“principally related to increases in net revenues.” Complaint,  82.

This series of favorable reports ended abruptly on February 10, 1998, when HHCA

® Throughout the parties’ papers, they refer to the “November 5, 1997,” press release
even though the report is actually dated November 4, 1997. For convenience, the court will also
refer to the rel ease as the November 5, 1997, release.
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announced that its earnings for the second quarter would be lower than anticipated and that, asa
result of the company’ s reorganization in response to the BBA, it would record a pre-tax charge
against earnings of between $25 and $30 million. See Complaint, 1 88-89. The report
explained that the decrease in revenues was caused by “the Company’ s el ection to cease doing
business with selected managed care companies due to their continued slow pay/no pay policy
and areduction in reimbursement rates by severa key managed care companies.” Complaint,
91. On February 11, 1998, the first day of trading after HHCA'’ s statement was rel eased,
HHCA'’s stock lost 42% of its value, falling from $8.13 to $4.69 by the close of trading.
Complaint, 1192, 94.

Plaintiffs allege that each of these statements issued by HHCA from September to
December, 1997, contained false or misleading information, or omitted material information,
which was not corrected or disclosed until February 10, 1998. They allege that each of the
defendants sought to inflate the price of HHCA' s stock during this period in order to profit by
insider trading, and to increase the likelihood that HHCA could continue to expand by funding its
acquisition of smaller health care providers with its stock. See Complaint, 1 58, 86, 108, 109.
Plaintiffs attacks on the statements described above fall into four general categories: plaintiffs
alege (1) that defendants misrepresented the effectiveness and scope of HHCA'’ s new and
allegedly stronger controls on slow-paying MCO'’ s and the sufficiency of its $3 million addition
to reserves; (2) that defendants omitted material information concerning the termination of
contracts with two slow-paying MCO's; (3) that defendants failed to disclose the need for a
substantial reduction in the goodwill of HHCA’s oxygen business as aresult of the BBA; and (4)

that defendants failed to disclose material information about cost-cutting and restructuring



measures necessitated by the BBA in atimely manner. See Complaint,  105. In other words,
plaintiffs allege that the defendants’ public statementsin the fall of 1997 were misleading
because defendants knew about, and postponed disclosing, the need for a substantial writeoff of
goodwill, and the actual termination of severa MCO contracts before September 30, 1997.

Plaintiffs claim that these material misrepresentations violated §10 (b)* and § 20 (a)° of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and Securities Exchange Commission Rule 10b-5.°

Defendants have moved to dismiss both the § 10 (b) and the § 20 (&) claims. Because the

* This section makes it
unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any
national securities exchange. . . (b) [tJo use or employ, in connection with the
purchase or sale of any security . . .any manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may
prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of
investors.

15U.S.C. §78j (b) (1997).

® This section provides:
Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under any
provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall also be liable
jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any
person to whom such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person
acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts
constituting the violation or cause of action.

15U.S.C. § 78t (a) (1997).

® This regulation makes it unlawful for any person
directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of interstate
commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange,
(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) to make any untrue
statement of amaterial fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, or () to engage in any act, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in
connection with the purchase or sale of any security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (1998).



liability of the individual defendants as controlling persons, under 8§ 20 (a), depends upon the
existence of a 8 10 (b) violation, the court will discuss defendants' arguments that plaintiffs have

failed to state aclaim for fraud or misrepresentation under § 10 (b). See Shapirov. UJB

Financia Corp., 964 F.2d 272, 279 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 934 (1992) (finding that § 20

(a) claims “depend[] entirely on the validty of § 10 (b) claims’).
STANDARD OF REVIEW
In ruling on amotion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be
granted, the court must accept as true all well-pleaded allegations of fact, and any reasonable
inferences that may be drawn therefrom, in the plaintiff's complaint and must determine whether
"under any reasonable reading of the pleadings, the plaintiff may be entitled to relief." Nami v.

Fauver, 82 F.3d 63, 65 (3d Cir.1996) (citations omitted); Weiner v. Quaker Oats Co., 129 F.3d

310, 312 (3d Cir. 1997) Although the court must construe the complaint in the light most
favorableto the plaintiff, it need not accept as true legal conclusions or unwarranted factual

inferences. See Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957). Claims should be dismissed under

Rule 12(b)(6) only if "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of factsin
support of [its] claim which would entitle[it] to relief." Id.
DISCUSSION
Elements of a § 10 (b) Cause of Action
In order to state a cause of action under 8 10 (b), the plaintiffs “must prove that the
defendant[s] (1) made misstatements or omissions of material fact; (2) with scienter; (3) in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities; (4) upon which plaintiffs relied; and (5) that

plaintiffs reliance was the proximate cause of their injury.” Weiner, 129 F.3d at 315 (quoting



Klinev. First Western Gov'’t Securities, Inc., 24 F.3d 480, 487 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 513 U.S.

1032 (1994)). In addition, because plaintiffs are asserting a fraud claim under § 10 (b), they must
also comply with the heightened pleading requirements for fraud contained in Fed. R. Civ. P. 9

(b). SeelnreBurlington Coat Factory Securities Litigation, 114 F.3d 1410, 1417 (3d Cir. 1997);

Kleinv. ICT Group, Inc., No. 97-6553, 1998 WL 372559, a * 2 (E.D. Pa. May 19, 1998).

Though Rule 9 (b) requires aplaintiff to plead “the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake .
.. with particularity,” the court “should be sensitive to the fact that the application of the Rule
prior to discovery may permit sophisticated defrauders to successfully conceal the details of their
fraud.” Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 284 (quotations omitted). Courts must also remember, however,
that Rule 9 (b) heightened pleading requirements “give|] defendants notice of the claims against
them, provide[] an increased measure of protection for their reputations, and reduce]] the number

of frivolous suits brought solely to extract settlements.” Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1418.

In addition to the requirements of Rule 9 (b), plaintiffs must also comply with the
pleading requirements of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”), 15
U.S.C. § 78u-4(b) (1997), because this suit was filed after December 22, 1995. Under the
PSLRA, aplaintiff alleging that defendants made misleading statements or omissions must
“gpecify each statement alleged to have been misleading, the reason or reasons why the statement
ismisleading, and, if an alegation regarding the statement or omission is made on information
and belief, the complaint shall state with particularity all the facts on which that belief is
formed.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4 (b)(1). The complaint must aso, “with respect to each act or
omission alleged to violate this chapter, state with particul arity facts giving rise to a strong

inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4 (b)(2).



Defendants assert that the complaint should be dismissed because as a matter of law, they
made no material misstatements, because the complaint fails to plead facts establishing a“ strong
inference” of fraud asthe PSLRA requires, because they had no duty to disclose pending
guarterly data or to police securities analysts statements regarding that data, and because the
complaint fails to meet the particul arity requirements of Rule 9 (b) and the PSLRA because it
alegesonly “fraud by hindsight.” HHCA Defendants Memorandum Supporting Their Motion
to Dismiss (“HHCA Defs’ Mem.”), a 2-3. Each of the defendants’ arguments will be addressed
inturn.

. Material Misstatements and Omissions

The defendants offer four reasons why the alleged misrepresentations or omissionsin
their statements do not pertain to material facts. They argue first that the financial impact of the
MCO contracts that were terminated is too insignificant to be material. The next argue that the
safe harbor provision of the PSLRA and the judicially-created “ bespeaks caution” doctrine make
their forward-1ooking statements inactionable. See HHCA Defs.” Mem., at 40-48. Third, they
argue that any of the forward looking statements not protected by the statutory safe harbor are
only inactionable puffing. Seeid. at 48-51. Finally, they argue that “at best, plaintiffs have
alleged claims of mismanagement or poor business judgment in the beliefs about HHCA for
future opportunities.” |Id. at 51-52. Plaintiffs counter that neither the safe harbor provision nor
the bespeaks caution doctrine protect misrepresentations or omissions concerning then-existing
facts, such as those contained in the four challenged statements, and even if the statements could
be construed as forward-looking, the cautionary language which accompanies them is insufficient

to invoke the protection of either the safe harbor or the bespeaks caution doctrine. See Plaintiffs



Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (“ Opposition”), a 20-26.
A. Standard for Materiality
The Supreme Court described the standard governing the materiality of omissions under

both § 10 (b) and Rule 10b-5 in Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988), by

adopting the materiality standard applied to claims under other sections of the securities laws,

which was first announced in TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976). In

order for an omitted fact to be material, “there must be a substantial likelihood that the disclosure
of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly
atered the ‘total mix’ of information made available.” Basic, 485 U.S. at 231-32 (quoting TSC
Indus., 426 U.S. at 449). Misstatements or omissions concerning beliefs, predictions, and
contingent events are actionable under the securities laws if the “speaker does not genuinely and

reasonably believe’ in the truth of her statements. In re Donald J. Trump Casino Securities

Litigation, 7 F.3d 357, 368 (3d Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1178 (1994).

When evaluating questions of materiality on a motion to dismiss, the court must consider
that “[m]ateriality isamixed question of law and fact, and the delicate assessments of the
inferences a reasonabl e shareholder would draw from a given set of facts are peculiarly for the
trier of fact,” and thus, “[o]nly if the alleged misrepresentations or omissions are so obviously
unimportant to an investor that reasonable minds cannot differ on the question of materiality isit
appropriate for the district court to rule that the alegations are inactionable as a matter of law.”

Weiner, 129 F.3d at 317 (quoting Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 281 n.11); Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at

1426.

B. Materiality of the Alleged Omissions



Colburn argues that HHCA’ s failure to disclose that it terminated two of its MCO clients
before September 30, 1997,” isimmaterial as a matter of law because the two terminated
contracts represented an insignificant portion of HHCA'’ s total revenues. See Memorandum of
Law in Support of Colburn’s Motion to Dismiss (“Colburn Mem.”), at 10; Reply Brief of
Colburn (“Colburn Reply”), at 3-4. The HHCA Defendants similarly argue that under the Third
Circuit’ s quantitative materiality analysis, the impact of these two contract terminations on
HHCA'’ s earnings, was “negligible” and was “hardly conducive to informed decision making.”

See HHCA Defs.” Reply, at 7 (quoting Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1427; In re Westinghouse

Securities Litigation, 90 F.3d 696, 714 (3d Cir. 1996)).

In Westinghouse, the court rejected the defendants’ assertion that omissions are not
materia unless they affect a specified percentage of income or assets, and held that “the question
of materiality must be considered on a case-by-case basis.” 1d. at 714, n. 14. Although it
rejected quantitative analysis as a guideline for every determination of materiality, the court did
affirm the district court’ s holding that the defendants’ failure to write down an asset in an amount
equal to .54% of their quarterly net income was inactionable because “there is not a substantial

likelihood that this information would have assumed actual significance in the deliberations of a

" Defendants argue that the complaint fails to allege that the two contracts at issue, those
with Oxford Health Plans (“Oxford”) and with HIP Network of Florida, Inc. (“HIP”), were
terminated in the first quarter of fiscal year 1998 (before September 30, 1997). See HHCA Defs’
Reply, at 11 The Complaint does allege, however, that HHCA admitted, in February 1998, that
the contracts were terminated “ before the beginning of the [second] quarter.” See Complaint,
102 (asserting that HHCA supplied thisinformation to a securities analyst). The court will
accept as true the plaintiffs alegations that these two contracts were terminated in the first
quarter of fiscal year 1998, for purposes of the motion to dismiss. The issue, therefore, becomes
whether HHCA' s failure to mention the termination of these two contracts in the challenged
statements issued after September 30, 1997, constitutes a material omission.
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reasonable investor.”® Id. at 715. Similarly, the Burlington Coat court found that the defendants’

failure to disclose that the discounts they received from manufacturers had declined was
immateria because the combination of smaller discounts and other cost increases raised their

total costs only .2% during the relevant time period. Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1427. The

Third Circuit also cited approvingly a First Circuit decision which held that when undisclosed
changesin levels of backlog orders changed by only 2.8% in the relevant quarter, the

nondisclosure was immaterial. See Glassman v. Computervision Corp., 90 F.3d 617, 633 (1st

Cir. 1996) (cited in Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1427).

Neither party disputes that the termination of mgjor contacts is a material event which

would affect the investment decisions of reasonable investors. See Bell v. Fore Systems, Inc., 17

F. Supp. 2d 433, 438-39 (W.D. Pa. 1998) (alegation that defendant failed to disclose the
termination of a contract to provide 1,000 networked computers to a Japanese university was
sufficiently material to survive amotion to dismiss). Though plaintiffs repeatedly claim that the
Oxford and HIP contracts were mgjor contracts, they offer no details to support their
characterization of those contracts. Asalleged by plaintiffs, and revealed by HHCA'’ s second
guarter balance sheets, HHCA'’ s second quarter net revenues dropped by $1.3 million. See
Complaint, 1199, 102. Asdescribed in the complaint and in HHCA’s Form 10-Q, which was
filed with the SEC on February 18, 1998, the $1.3 million decline was attributable to “various
factors such as the Company ceasing to provide services and products to selected managed care

companies due to their protracted payment terms, a reduction in reimbursement rates by certain

8 The court also affirmed the district court’s conclusion that claims involving the
improper classification of assets constituting only 1.2% of the defendants' current quarterly
assets were immaterial. Seeid.
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managed care companies, losing certain contracts due to the Company’ s unwillingness to agree
to rate reductions in connection with certain managed care contracts, and adecline in crosselling
of these products and services to the Company’ s nursing patients during the transition to certain
of the regional coordinated care centers.” Complaint, §99. Therefore, even accepting all of
plaintiffs allegations as true, and assuming that the two MCO terminations combined were the
most significant of the factors causing the decline in net revenues, the two contract terminations
combined decreased net revenues by less than $1.3 million, or 2.8% of HHCA' s net revenues for
the quarter.

Though the impact of these terminations on HHCA'’ s net revenue may have been
negligible, and it may be likely that no reasonable investor would have viewed these terminations
as “gignificantly alter[ing] the ‘total mix’ of information” about HHCA' s financial prospects, |
will not dismiss plaintiffs' claims concerning the failure to disclose these terminations. TSC
Indus., 426 U.S. at 449. Animpact on net revenues of approximately 3% is substantively
different from the impacts which the Third Circuit found immaterial in Westinghouse (.54% and

1.2%) and Burlington Coat (.2%). Moreover, plaintiffs persuasively argue that because HHCA

repeatedly emphasized the importance of its relationships with MCO'’ s generally, the termination
of two MCOQO’sis significant, especially in light of the BBA’s reductions in Medicare
reimbursement rates and the market’ s recognition that HHCA'’ s future depends on its
relationships with MCO’s. See Opposition, a 33. Even though HHCA' s decision to terminate
the contracts of two slow-paying MCQO’ s which combined generated less than 2.8% percent of
HHCA' s net revenues, does not indicate that HHCA would be unable to maintain its contracts

with other MCO’s or that HHCA devalued the role of MCO contractsin its future plans, a

12



reasonable investor may have considered these two terminations significant. The court rgjects,
however, plaintiffs contention that the court must assume that the terminations were material
because the court must assume that the announcement of the terminations contributed to the
sharp declinein HHCA stock on February 11, 1998. See Opposition, at 32 (“the substantial
decline is presumed as a matter of law to reflect all the negative news disseminated, including
disclosure of the MCO contract terminations’). The cases which plaintiffs cite to support this

assertion contain no such presumption. See Shaw v. Digital Equip. Corp., 82 F.3d 1194, 1218

(1st Cir. 1996); Wiedlos v. Commonwealth Edison Co., 892 F.2d 509, 510 (7th Cir. 1989).

Rather, these cases stand for the well-settled proposition that the stock market corrects the price
of stock based on information concerning the issuing company.

Because omissions must be “obviously unimportant” to be immaterial as a matter of law,
and plaintiffs may be able to convince ajury that these omissions may have been important to a
reasonable investor, plaintiffs’ claims based on HHCA'’ s failure to disclose the termination of
these two contracts will not be dismissed. The court will revisit this determination if the
defendants are able to demonstrate, at the summary judgment stage, that the impact of these
terminations on HHCA'’ s net profits was far less than the impact of the terminations on HHCA'’s
net revenues. Defendants may well be able to show that the termination of slow-paying or non-
paying customers such as Oxford and HIP had a“negligible” impact on HHCA'’ s finances, more
in line with the data which the Third Circuit has previously held immaterial as a matter of law.

C. Applicability of the PSLRA’s Safe Harbor and the Bespeaks Caution

Doctrine

Defendants next argue that because the statements which plaintiffs challenge are forward-

13



looking and are accompanied by specific cautionary language warning that actual results may
differ from the projections contained in the statements, these statements are immunized under the
PSLRA and itsjudicially-created corollary, the bespeaks caution doctrine. See HHCA Defs’
Mem., at 40-48. The PSLRA creates a safe harbor which precludes liability for fraud claims
based on

any forward-looking statement, whether written or ora, if and to the extent that

(A) the forward-looking statement is (i) identified as a forward-1ooking statement,

and is accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying important

factors that could cause actual results to differ materialy from those in the

forward-looking statement; or (ii) immateria; or (B) the plaintiff failsto prove

that the forward-looking statement (i) if made by a natural person, was made with

actual knowledge by that person that the statement was false or misleading; or (ii)

if made by abusiness entity; was (I) made by or with the approval of an executive

officer of that entity; and (11) made or approved by such officer with actual

knowledge by that officer that the statement was fal se or misleading.
15 U.S.C. 8§ 78u-5 (c). Similarly, the bespeaks caution doctrine protects “forecasts, opinions or
projections [if they] are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements [and] did not affect
the ‘total mix’ of information the document provided investors.” Trump, 7 F.3d at 371. To
render a misstatement or omission immaterial as a matter of law, however, the “cautionary
statements must be substantive and tailored to the specific future projections, estimates or
opinions in the [document] which the plaintiffs chalenge.” Id., at 371-72.

Defendants urge the court to examine their alleged misrepresentations in context, and to
rule that the cautionary statements contained in the same documents render HHCA'’ s public
statements inactionable. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5 (€) (providing that “the court shall consider any

statement cited in the complaint and any cautionary statement accompanying the forward-looking

statement, which are not subject to material dispute” on a safe harbor motion to dismiss). The

14



court will examine each of the challenged statementsin light of the cautionary language which
accompanies them.
1 September 3, 1997 Press Release

Plaintiffs claim that the September 3, 1997, press rel ease was misleading because it
misrepresented HHCA' s current plans for dealing with delinquent MCO clients. Rather than
disclose that HHCA anticipated the termination of several MCO contracts, plaintiffs assert,
HHCA claimed that it was instituting “stronger controls’ over the “distribution of products and
services,” and that it was devoting “increased resources . . . to collection activities.” Complaint,
161. Plaintiffsalso claim that defendant Feldman’s optimistic statement that “[w]e believe that
stronger controls at our distribution points and intake procedures and increased resources devoted
to collection activities. . . will accelerate payments from payors and reduce the likelihood of
payment denias,” was misleading because it failed to disclose the possible termination of
MCO’s and because it overstated the effectiveness of the new controls. Complaint, § 63.

Defendants claim that the generalized statements contained in the last two paragraphs of
the press release entitle the entire statement to safe harbor protection. The last two paragraphs
assert that “the matters discussed in this news release are forward |ooking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties,” and that “[p]otential risks and uncertainties include pricing pressures
from third-party payors, including managed care organizations.” See Appendix, Ex. A, at 3. The
challenged statements, which concern HHCA' s strategies for dealing with delinquent MCO
clients, are within the scope of forward-looking statements protected by the PSLRA’ s safe
harbor. See 15 U.S.C. 8 78u-5 (i)(1)(B) (defining a forward-looking statement as “a statement of

the plans and objectives of management for future operations, including plans or objectives

15



relating to the products or services of theissuer”). The statements are only protected however, if
the factors which may cause results to differ from those projected are identified. See 15 U.S.C. §
78u-5 (¢)(1)(A). “Failureto include the particular factor that ultimately causes the forward-
looking statement not to come true will not mean that the statement is not protected by the safe

harbor.” Rasheedi v. Cree Research, Inc., No. 96-890, 1997 WL 785720, at * 1 (M.D.N.C. Oct.

17, 1997) (quoting the PSLRA’ s legidative history). Plaintiffs contend that the warning that
“pricing pressures from third-party payors’ may affect HHCA'’s plansisinsufficient to warn
investors that HHCA may terminate the contracts of some of its MCO clients. See Opposition, at
13. Though the warning was adequate to caution that management’ s controls may prove
ineffective, plaintiffs are correct that the warning does not caution investors concerning the
possible termination of MCO contracts. Therefore, to the extent that plaintiffs’ challenge to the
September 3, 1997, press release is based on its misrepresentations concerning the likely success
of controls on MCO payments, plaintiffs’ claims are dismissed. To the extent, however, that the
complaint challenges the September 3, 1997, statement for its failure to disclose the possible
termination of MCO contracts, plaintiffs may proceed.
2. Form 10-K, Filed with the SEC on October 28, 1997

Plaintiffs assert that HHCA’s Form 10-K for fiscal year 1997 was materially misleading
in severa respects. First, they claim that the company’ s statements that it “expects that managed
care contracts will generate an increasing number of referrals,” that it “anticipates net revenues
from managed care organizations will increase significantly,” and that it had formed a new
division “to form strategic alliances with managed care organizations [and to] strengthen[]

current relationships with health care providers and payors’ were misleading because these

16



statements failed to disclose that HHCA anticipated terminating slow-paying MCO’s and that
two MCO'’s had already been terminated. Complaint, 11 71-73, 76. Moreover, plaintiffsclam
that HHCA' s list of contracts with MCO’ s was deceptive because it included HIP Network of
Florida, Inc., whose contract had aready been terminated, and failed to disclose that Oxford’s
contract had recently been terminated. Complaint, § 76. Plaintiffs also complain that the 10-K
misrepresented that HHCA'’ s new system of stronger controls would allow HHCA to collect
accounts more effectively because management knew that the new system “was not functioning
effectively to stem the tide of delayed payments.” Complaint, [ 74, 75. Finaly, plaintiffs
complain that the Form 10-K discussed the BBA generally, but “did not indicate that it had
formulated specific plansin response to thislegislation.” Complaint, § 77.

Defendants claim that its statements in the Form 10-K are also protected under the safe
harbor provision because they concern HHCA' s business plans and expectations of future growth
areas. Inthe Form 10-K, HHCA specifically cautioned that “there can be no assurance that
management’ s efforts to obtain timely payment for the Company’ s products and services will be
successful.” Complaint,  74. Plaintiffs, though not clearly, appear to argue that this warning
does not satisfy the requirements of the safe harbor provision because the statement of optimism
“was made with actual knowledge . . . that the statement was false or misleading.” 15 U.S.C. §
78u-5 (¢)(1)(B). Because plaintiffs have aleged that management knew that the controls were
not working and that fact, if true, would defeat the applicability of the safe harbor protection,
their claims based on HHCA' s statements about the implementation of stronger controls will not
be dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (b)(6). Thisclaim will, however, be dismissed under Fed.

R. Civ. P. 9 (b) because plaintiffs have failed to allege specific facts suggesting that defendants

17



knew that their new system of controls was ineffective. The termination of two customers does
not compel the conclusion that the entire system was not functioning.

Paintiffs claims based on HHCA'’sfailure to disclose the termination of two MCO’swill
not be dismissed at this stage because plaintiffs may be able to demonstrate that these
terminations were material. Defendants argue that a specific warning in the Form 10-K cautions
investors against assuming that HHCA will continue to contract with its MCO clients. The Form
10-K reports that “[t]here can be no assurance the Company will be able to successfully [sic]
maintain existing referral sources or develop and maintain new referral sources. The loss of any
significant referral sources or the failure to develop any new referral sources could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’ s financia condition or results of operations.”

Appendix, Ex. F, a 4, 42. Contrary to defendants’ assertion, this statement does not protect
defendants' omission of information about past terminations under the safe harbor provision.
Instead, these statements support plaintiffs' assertion that MCO terminations are material events
which should have been disclosed. The safe harbor provisions do not insulate companies failure
to disclose existing materia information, as plaintiffs have alleged that HHCA has done here.
See Shaw, 82 F.3d at 1213-14 (bespeaks caution doctrine does not protect statements that are
misleading given currently available information); Westinghouse, 90 F.3d at 710 (currently

misleading statements can be actionable) (citing Rubinstein v. Collins, 20 F.3d 160, 171 (5th Cir.

1994) (reiterating view that “[t]o warn that the untoward may occur when the event is contingent
is prudent; to caution that it is only possible for the unfavorable events to happen when they have

already occurred is deceit”); Voit v. Wonderware Corp., 977 F. Supp. 363, 371 (E.D. Pa. 1997)

(same).
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Plaintiffs do misread the Form 10-K though, when they alege that the termination of two
MCO contracts necessarily contradicts HHCA' s statements that they seek to improve their
relationships with MCO'’ s generally and seek to increase their revenue from MCQO’ s generally.
The termination of difficult MCQO’ s does not evidence HHCA’ s inability to deal with more
cooperative MCQO's, and should the defendants be able to prove, at some later stage, that the
terminated contracts were immaterial, then plaintiffs' alegations that the omission of information
regarding these terminations was material must be dismissed. In sum, plaintiffs’ challenge to the
Form 10-K based on its failure to report the termination of two MCO contracts will not be
dismissed at this stage.

Finaly, plaintiffs allege that HHCA was obligated to disclose, in the Form 10-K, that it
would be required to write down the value of the goodwill of its oxygen supply businesslineasa
result of the BBA, rather than mentioning the possibility that the BBA could negatively impact
its oxygen and home nursing businesses. See Opposition, at 23-24. Defendants assert that the
Form 10-K adequately disclosed the possible need for awrite down in goodwill and disclosed
that “any such future determination requiring the write-off of asignificant portion of unamortized
goodwill could have amaterial adverse effect on the Company’ s financia condition or results of
operations.” Appendix, Ex. F. at 39. Defendants also argue that the Form 10-K identified and
specifically discussed the possible adverse effects of the BBA on its home nursing and oxygen
businesses. See Appendix, Ex. F, at 35-37.

Plaintiffs’ assertion that HHCA failed to disclose that the BBA would definitely impact
the goodwill of its oxygen businessis essentially a claim that the Form 10-K’s cautionary

statement was fal se when made because it downplayed the certain negative effect of the BBA’s
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reduction in reimbursement rates for home oxygen supplies. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5 (c)(1)(B)
(safe harbor does not protect statements that are false when made). Because plaintiff has alleged
that HHCA knew that the BBA would definitely reduce the value of its oxygen business, see
Complaint, 11 77, 105(g), and this assertion if true, would make the defendants’ statements
concerning the impact of the BBA on the oxygen business materially misleading, plaintiffs
challenge cannot be dismissed. Rule 9 (b) does not provide abasis for dismissing this claim
because plaintiffs have adequately aleged that defendants were aware of the BBA’ s provisions
and that the provisions unequivocally mandate a reduction in the reimbursements for home
oxygen supplies and services. See Complaint, 111 (f).

Plaintiffs have not plead, however, sufficient facts to support their allegations that HHCA
knew, when it filed the Form 10-K, that the BBA would require cost reductions, restructuring,
and awrite down of the goodwill of its home nursing business. Unlike the BBA’s provisions
concerning the definite decrease in oxygen reimbursement rates beginning on January 1, 1998,
the BBA provided for the imposition of an Interim Payment System (“1PS”) for home nursing
visits, which was not scheduled to take effect for most of HHCA'’ s agencies until July, 1998, and
was much |ess definite than the 25% decrease in oxygen reimbursements. See Complaint, 1 51-
53. Plaintiffs have not aleged that HHCA had formulated a definitive response to the BBA’s
provisions dealing with home nursing when the Form 10-K wasfiled. See Complaint, § 54.
Plaintiffs only allege that HHCA was in the process of formulating and implementing such a plan
during the time period between September 30, and December 31, 1997. Seeid. The Form 10-K
discusses the Interim Payment System and reports that HHCA “is unable to determine the effect

of the IPS or the reimbursement impact resulting from payments for services based on
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geographic location until HCFA finalizes regulatory guidance. Any resulting reduction in the
Company’s cost limits could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition
or results of operations.” Appendix, Ex. F, at 36. Thus, the plaintiffs have failed to point to any
midleading statements in the Form 10-K regarding HHCA'’ s response to the BBA'’ s provisions
regarding home nursing care, and their challenge to the Form 10-K on these grounds must be
dismissed.
3. November 5, 1997 Press Release

Plaintiffs claim that the November 5, 1997, press release was misleading because it failed
to disclose that HHCA was having trouble collecting from some MCO'’ s and that it had
terminated contracts with others. See Opposition, at 17. The press release discusses HHCA's
growth in earnings in the quarter ended September 30, 1997, and reports that the growth “reflects
our one-stop-shop strategy of providing cost-effective, comprehensive home health services and
productsto [MCQO'’ ] and other payors.” See Appendix, Ex. B, a 1. The statement also cautions
that future results may differ because of “pricing pressures from third-party payors’ among other
factors, and directs the reader to the Form 10-K for a complete discussion of risk factors. Seeid.
Plaintiffs do not claim that any of the earnings information contained in the report was false, or
that the report mentioned topics without fully disclosing information about them; instead,
plaintiffs argue that investors could infer from the report, that “HHCA’ s relationships with its
MCO clients were proceeding smoothly and successfully and that substantial resources would no
longer have to be directed to collection activities.” Opposition, at 17; Complaint, § 79.

The safe harbor provisions protect the defendants’ November 5, 1997, pressrelease. The

federal securities|aws do not provide aremedy for investors who draw unwarranted or overbroad
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inferences from companies’ public disclosures. See Basic, 485 U.S. at 231-32 (information is
only materia if it would have affected the “total mix of information” available to areasonable
investor). Plaintiffs have not alleged that HHCA'’ s growth in earningsin the first quarter of fiscal
year 1998 was not attributable to revenues from MCQO'’s, as the release asserts. The press release
adequately cautioned investors that the company’ s revenues may be different in the future, and
the Form 10-K cautioned that HHCA was experiencing payment problems with some MCO's.
See Appendix, Ex. F, at 10, 29. AsHHCA had no ongoing independent duty to inform investors
that it had terminated two MCQO’s contracts, seeinfra, part 1V, plaintiffs' claims are without
merit. Therefore, plaintiffs claims that the November 5, 1997, press rel ease was misleading will
be dismissed.
4, Form 10-Q, Filed with the SEC on December 2, 1997

Plaintiffs argue that HHCA’ s Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal year 1998, which
ended on September 30, 1997, was misleading for the same reasons that they alleged the
November 5, 1997, press release was misleading. See Complaint, § 82. Specificaly, plaintiffs
charge that HHCA'’sindication that it had increased its reserves for doubtful accounts because its
net revenues had increased, misleadingly suggested that HHCA was no longer having problems
collecting from MCO clients. See Opposition, at 18. Contrary to plaintiffs’ assertions, the Form
10-Q indicates nothing about HHCA'’ s ability to collect from its MCO clients, and an inference
that HHCA' s collections problems had terminated is unwarranted in light of the cautionary
statements contained in the Form 10-K which are referenced in the Form 10-Q. See Appendix,
Ex. G, a 6. Therefore, the plaintiffs’ challenge to the Form 10-Q, based on its aleged

mischaracterization of HHCA'’s ability to collect from MCQO’s, will be dismissed.
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D. Puffing

Defendants argue that any of the challenged statements which describe their “beliefs’
about HHCA'’ s future constitute inactionable “puffing.” Courts have uniformly rejected claims
that vague, optimistic statements, or “puffing,” amount to actionable misstatements under §

10(b). See Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1427 (“Claims that these kinds of vague expressions of

hope by corporate managers could dupe the market have been almost uniformly rejected by the

courts.”); see also Weiner, 129 F.3d at 320 (genera statements of optimism are immaterial).

Hopeful statements by corporate managers do not provide the basis for “fraud on the market”
claims, such asthe plaintiffs’, because it is unreasonable to assume that reasonable investors
would consider such statements material. See Shaw, 82 F.3d at 1218 (“aclaim that afraud was
perpetrated on the market can draw no sustenance from allegations that defendants made overly-
optimistic statements’).; Shapiro, 964 F.2d at 283, n. 12 (noting that puffing isimmaterial). To
the extent that plaintiffs' claims concerning material omissions and misrepresentations are
material, and are not protected by the PSLRA'’ s statutory safe harbors, they are not puffing, but

are rather specific statements or omission about potentially material facts. Cf. McCarthy v. C-

Cor Electronics, Inc., 909 F. Supp. 970, 976-77 (E.D. Pa. 1995) (finding that predictions

concerning “strong” earnings may be material when read in context and were thus, not puffing).
E. Mismanagement
Though defendants are correct that plaintiffs may not assert claims for corporate
mismanagement, or poor business judgment, under § 10 (b), defendants are not correct that the
essence of plaintiffs claimsisthat “HHCA should have predicted the future with greater

accuracy.” HHCA Defs’ Mem., at 51; see Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 479
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(2977) (allegations which “constitute no more than internal corporate mismanagement” are

unactionable under § 10 (b)); In re Craftmatic Securities Litigation, 890 F.2d 628, 639 (3d Cir.

1990) (“Although alegations of failure to disclose mismanagement alone do not state aclaim
under federal securitieslaw, aclaim that defendants failed to disclose material facts may be
actionable.”). Asdiscussed in detail above, plaintiffs claims which are not barred by the
statutory safe harbor or by the materiality requirement state claims that defendants
misrepresented or omitted information pertaining to existing, material events, such asthe
accomplished termination of MCO contracts and the need for a significant reduction in the
goodwill of HHCA’s oxygen business. Seeinfra, part I1.C.1-2. Assuch, plaintiffs’ claimswill
not be dismissed because they do not allege mere corporate mismanagement.
1. Scienter

To adequately plead aviolation of § 10 (b), plaintiffs must allege that the defendants
acted with scienter when they made their allegedly fraudulent or deceptive statements. See

Weiner, 129 F.3d at 315; Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1418. Under the PSLRA, plaintiffs must

allege particular facts “with respect to each act or omission alleged to violate” § 10 (b) which
“giv[€e] riseto astrong inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15
U.S.C. § 78u-4 (b)(2); Vait, 977 F. Supp. at 373. Though courts have disagreed about the
PSLRA'’s effect on the pleading requirements for scienter that were in effect before its
enactment, Congress has recently clarified the courts' confusion. Seeid. (noting disagreement

about the PSLRA’ s pleading requirements for scienter); Allison v. Brooktree Corp., 999 F. Supp.

1342, 1351 (S.D. Cal. 1998) (noting the debate over the “precise contours of the ‘ strong

inference’ standard”).
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Before the PSLRA was enacted, the Third Circuit had adopted the Second Circuit’s
requirement that a plaintiff must “allege specific facts that give riseto a‘strong inference’ that

the defendant possessed the requisite intent.” Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1418. This standard

could be satisfied either “by alleging facts to show that defendants had both motive and
opportunity to commit fraud; or [] by aleging facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence

of conscious misbehavior or recklessness.” 1d. (citing Acito v. IMCERA Group, Inc., 47 F.3d

47,52 (2d Cir. 1995)). After the PSLRA was enacted, severa courts opined, based on the
PSLRA’s legidative history, that allegations of motive and opportunity would no longer be

sufficient to plead scienter. See Voit, 977 F. Supp. at 374; Norwood Venture Corp. v. Converse

Inc., 959 F. Supp. 205, 208 (S.D.N.Y. 1997).

In reaction to the opinions of those, and other, courts, Congress recently affirmed that the
PSLRA had indeed codified the Second Circuit’ s pleading requirements, and thus, confirmed that
allegations of motive and opportunity are sufficient to plead scienter. When it enacted the
Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1988, Pub. L. No. 105-353, 112 Stat. 3227, the
Conference Committee, the President, and several members of Congress expressed their concern
that federal district courts had misinterpreted the scienter requirements of the PSLRA. See
Statement by the President on Securities Litigation Act, available inWestlaw, 1998 WL 767340
(Nov. 3,1998); 144 Cong. Rec. S12906 (daily ed. Oct. 21, 1998) (statement of Sen. Reed); 144
Cong. Rec. E2296 (daily ed. Oct. 21, 1998) (statement of Rep. Eshoo); 144 Cong. Rec. S12737
(daily ed. Oct. 20, 1998) (statement of Sen. Leahy); 144 Cong. Rec. E2246 (daily ed. Oct. 20,
1998) (statement of Rep. Dingell); Joint Explanatory Statement of the Committee of Conference,

144 Cong. Rec. H11020, H11021 (daily ed. Oct. 15, 1998). All of these documents reinforce that
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it was the intention of Congress, when drafting the PSLRA, and again when passing the
Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act, that “the pleading standard rules devel oped by the
United States Court of Appealsfor the Second Circuit would continue to govern” and that “the
recklessness standard and Second Circuit pleading rules continue in force.” 144 Cong. Rec.
S12737 (daily ed. Oct. 20, 1998) (statement of Sen. Leahy); Joint Explanatory Statement of the
Committee of Conference, 144 Cong. Rec. H11020, H11021 (daily ed. Oct. 15, 1998) (“the
managers again emphasize that the clear intent in 1995 and our continuing intent in this
legidation is that neither the Reform Act nor [the Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act] in
any way alters the scienter standard in Federal securities fraud suits. . . .the Reform Act
establish[ed] a heightened uniform Federal standard on pleading requirements based upon the
pleading standard applied by the Second Circuit Court of Appeas.”). Therefore, alegations that
defendants had both motive and opportunity to commit fraud are sufficient to plead scienter

under 8§ 10 (b), and the pleading requirements announced in Burlington Coat are still valid, as

they were based on the Second Circuit’ s requirements codified in the PSLRA. Seelnre

Centocor, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. 98-260, dlip op. at 7 (E.D. Pa. Nov, 31, 1998) (finding

that plaintiffs have adequately plead scienter by pleading a motive and opportunity to commit
fraud).

Plaintiffs argue that they have adequately plead scienter because they have aleged that
defendants, as officers and directors of HHCA, had the opportunity to make false and misleading
statements concerning HHCA to the public. See Complaint, 11111-12, 111. Plaintiffsalso allege
that defendants were motivated to artificialy inflate the price of HHCA'’ s stock so that they could

profit from insider trading on the inflated prices and so that HHCA’ s planned mergers and
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acquisitions could be completed using HHCA stock rather than cash. See Complaint, 1 3, 58,
106-09. Plaintiffs also claim to have plead strong circumstantial evidence of conscious
misbehavior or recklessness by aleging that the defendants knew that each of their public
statements was false or misleading. See Complaint,  111.

A. Allegations Concerning Motive

Plaintiffs assert that defendants had three motives for making the allegedly material
mi srepresentations and omissions: to

(i) allow the defendants to sell their shares of HHCA common stock at a

substantia profit before the truth could be discovered; (ii) facilitate potential

acquisitions by enhancing HHCA' s ability to fund acquisitions by granting the

acquired company shares of HHCA common stock; and (iii) [] discourage

potential acquires of HHCA by raising the per share cost of HHCA.
Complaint, §106. With respect to plaintiffs' alegation that the defendants were motivated by a
desire to acquire, or merge with, other companies using HHCA stock to fund the transactions,
plaintiffs have failed to plead particular facts which would establish a strong inference of
scienter. Although plaintiffs have alleged that HHCA intended to expand its business through
acquisitions, and that HHCA has, in the past, funded similar acquisitions with a combination of
HHCA stock and cash, plaintiffs have not identified a single acquisition target during the
purported class period. See Complaint, 1 55-58, 107. Unsubstantiated allegations that HHCA

sought to inflate its market price to consummate unspecified acquisitions do not raise a strong

inference of scienter.®

° Evenif plaintiffs were to contend that this information is within HHCA’s exclusive
control, plaintiffs are obligated to plead that thisinformation is within HHCA'’s control and to
report the sources they reviewed in an attempt to discover thisinformation. See Shapiro, 964
F.2d at 285 (requiring plaintiffsto plead that the information necessary to state their clamsis
controlled exclusively by the defendant); Craftmatic, 890 F.2d at 645 (same). Plaintiffs have
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The only transaction specifically mentioned in the complaint is a proposed merger
between HHCA and U.S. HomeCare Corp. (*USHQ”), in which USHO was to have become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of HHCA in return for HHCA stock, which was announced on
September 29, 1997. See Complaint, 11 68-69, 83-84, 93. As plaintiffs admit, HHCA
announced that the merger agreement was terminated on February 11, 1998, as aresult of
continuing investigations into USHO by the New Y ork Attorney General. See Complaint, 1 93.
Though the merger, as originally contemplated, would have become more difficult considering
the precipitous drop in the value of HHCA'’ s stock, plaintiffs have not alleged that HHCA’s
announced reasons for terminating the merger were false. Because HHCA'’ s announced reason
for terminating the merger was unrelated to its stock price, plaintiffs allegation that defendants
purposefully inflated HHCA'’ s stock price to complete a merger, which they then abandoned,
fails to establish a strong inference of scienter.

Additionally, plaintiffs alegation that defendants inflated HHCA' s stock prices to rebuff
a hostile takeover attempt is completely unsupported by particular facts. The only mention of
this possible motivation for defendants’ allegedly fraudulent conduct, in fact, is the language
guoted above. As plaintiffs have failed to plead particularized facts demonstrating that
defendants were motivated to commit fraud in order to facilitate acquisitions or to prevent hostile
takeovers, these allegations will be dismissed from the complaint.

The only remaining basis on which plaintiffs allegations of motive may rest istheir clam
that defendants wished to trade on their insiders’ knowledge that HHCA' s prices were artificially

inflated. Though insider trading may theoretically raise a strong inference of fraud, plaintiffs

failed to satisfy either of these requirements.
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allegations fail to do so. For insider trading to produce an inference of fraud, it must occur “at

times and in quantities that were suspicious.” Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1424. The court

“will not infer fraudulent intent from the mere fact that some officers sold stock.” Id. In order to
establish that the insider trades in question were suspicious, plaintiffs should allege that the
insiders sold asignificant portion of their total holdings in the company, that the trades were not
usua or routine for thisinsider, and that the insider’ s profit from the sales was substantial in
relation to her compensation. Seeid. at 1423; Voit, 977 F. Supp. a 374 (finding that plaintiffs
satisfied the stronger “conscious behavior” standard of pleading scienter by alleging that three of
defendant’ s executives sold 71.2%, 14.9% and 10.6% of their stock in the defendant company);

Blum v. Semiconductor Packaging Materials Co., No. 97-7078, 1998 WL 254035, at * 4 (E.D.

Pa. May 5, 1998) (finding insider trading allegations insufficient when complaint fails to identify
the profit made by the defendant, the percentage of defendant’ s shares sold, or the relation
between the profits and the defendant’ s compensation).

Plaintiffs here have failed to plead facts concerning insider trading which would giverise
to astrong inference of fraudulent behavior by any of the individual defendants. Though
plaintiffs have identified three groups of insider trades during the time period when HHCA'’s
stock prices were allegedly inflated,™ plaintiffs have failed to plead facts showing that these
trades were unusual in timing or in quantity, that the shares sold represented a significant

percentage of the defendants’ holdings, or that the defendants’ profits from the sales were

19 plaintiffs claim that Feldman sold 20,00 share of HHCA stock on September 15, 1997,
for total proceeds of $211,800, and 25,000 shares on December 15, 1997, for total proceeds of
$231,750. See Complaint, 11 25, 66, 86 (b), 108. Entities associated with Sterensis are aleged
to have sold 40,000 shares of HHCA stock for total proceeds of $372,600. See Complaint, 11 27,
86 (a), 108.
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substantial in relation to their salaries. Plaintiffs have alleged only that sales prices were
significant when compared to the defendants’ salaries, not that the profit from the sales was
significant. Plaintiffs have not even attempted to argue that this information is within the
defendants' exclusive control and thus, is unavailable absent discovery. See Shapiro, 964 F.2d at
285. Moreover, plaintiffs have not alleged that Colburn traded in HHCA stock at all. Asaresult
of these deficiencies, plaintiffs' alegations of motive fall far short of creating a strong inference
of scienter, and will be dismissed.

B. Allegations Concerning Conscious or Reckless Misbehavior

Plaintiffs allege, throughout the complaint, that the defendants knew that the challenged
public statements were either false or misleading when they were made. Plaintiffs, have
however, with respect to several of the grounds on which the statements were challenged, failed
to plead particular facts supporting their assertions that the defendants consciously or recklessly
committed fraud.

First, with respect to plaintiffs’ allegations that defendants knew that their new system of
controls for monitoring service and payment was ineffective, plaintiffs have failed to plead facts
showing that defendants knew, or should have known, that the system was not working. For
example, plaintiffs assert that, by October 28, 1997 (when the Form 10-K was filed), “ defendants
knew that HHCA' s system of controls was not functioning effectively to stem the tide of delayed
payments. Moreover, the defendants knew, or recklessly disregarded, the fact that, at that time,
revenues in the second quarter of fiscal 1998 ended on December 31, 1997, were being materially
and adversely impacted by HHCA' s inability to control non-payments and delayed payments.”

Complaint, § 75. Plaintiffs have plead no facts suggesting that defendants had access to
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information concerning the revenues for a quarter which was only half complete. The court will
decline plaintiffs’ invitation to infer that defendants must have known information which was
incompletely developed at the time of their challenged statement. These allegations will,
therefore, be dismissed.

Similarly, plaintiffs have failed to plead particular facts which demonstrate that the
defendants knew, prior to February, 1998, to any quantifiable degree, about the need to
restructure and cut costs in HHCA'’s home nursing business. Plaintiffs alege generaly that
defendants were aware, as soon as the BBA was passed in August, 1997, that its interim payment
system would have an adverse impact on HHCA’s home nursing business. See Complaint,  77.
This bald assertion is both unsupported by particular facts demonstrating that defendants were
instantly aware of the BBA’s full impact, in a quantifiable way, and contradicts other allegations
of the complaint that HHCA did not develop arestructuring plan in reaction to the BBA until
December 31, 1997, and was still implementing that plan in February, 1998. See Complaint, 1
98. Thus, plaintiffs have not alleged particular facts showing that defendants consciously or
recklessly misrepresented the need for changesin HHCA'’ s home nursing business. These
allegations, too, will be dismissed.

Plaintiffs have adequately plead facts which may raise a strong inference that defendants
knowingly or recklessly misrepresented their awareness that two MCO contracts had been
terminated, and that the value of HHCA'’ s oxygen business declined substantially when the BBA
was passed. See Complaint, 1176, 97-102, 111. Plaintiffs have alleged that the MCO contract
terminations occurred before September 31, 1997, and that HHCA unilaterally decided to

terminate these contracts. Accepting, as discussed above, that these contracts represented a
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materia part of HHCA'’s business, plaintiffs have alleged strong circumstantial evidence
suggesting that defendants knew about the terminations and failed to disclose them. Plaintiffs
have aso plead specific facts demonstrating that defendants were well aware of the BBA’s
certain impact on HHCA'’ s home oxygen business, and misleadingly described that impact.
HHCA'’s Form 10-K explained the BBA’s 25% reduction in home oxygen reimbursement rates,
but failed to disclose that the business' goodwill would decrease in value. See Appendix, EX. F,
at 16, 36. These allegations are adequate to plead scienter.
V.  Duty to Disclose

As an alternative reason for dismissing the complaint, defendants argue that they had no
duty to inform the public about pending quarterly data, and that all of the information which
plaintiffs contend should have been released before February 10, 1998, was pending quarterly
data unavailable until the second quarter’ s financia results were available. See HHCA Defs’
Mem., at 69. They also assert that they were under no duty, other than that imposed by the
SEC’ s periodic filing requirements, to update the public concerning changesin HHCA'’s
financial health. Seeid. at 75-78. Plaintiffs respond that their claims are not based on
defendants’ failure to inform the public of developments occurring after the challenged
statements were rel eased and thus, defendants’ discussion of a duty to update isirrelevant to their
claims. See Opposition, at 33. Thelir claims, plaintiffs contend, are more accurately described as
“afailure to disclose materia events - not data - as they occurred.” 1d.

The court agrees that the defendants have misinterpreted the plaintiffs’ claims when they
assert that plaintiffs are complaining about the belated disclosure of “ quarterly operational

activities that occur ‘before the calculations [that] businesses use[] to quantitatively evaluate their
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financial well being are completed.”” HHCA Defs” Mem. at 81 (citing Harris v. Ivax Corp., 998

F. Supp. 1449, 1453 (S.D. Fla.1998)). The complaint’s allegations which concern properly plead
material allegations pertain to defendants’ failure to disclose existing information when their
failure to do so rendered their public statements materially misleading. See supra, part 11.C.1-2
(describing those alegations which concern potential material misrepresentations). Neither
plaintiffs allegation that HHCA failed to inform the public about accomplished MCO contract
terminations, nor that HHCA failed to disclose the certain negative impact of the BBA onits
home oxygen business contend that defendants should have updated existing statements to reflect
new developments. Defendants may be correct when they assert that the exact amount of the
goodwill write down to HHCA' s oxygen business may not have been determinable until the end
of December, 1997, but plaintiffs have adequately pled that the need for such awrite down was
evident, and should have been disclosed, much earlier. See Complaint, 9111 (f). Assuch,
defendants' argument that the PSLRA’ s protection for forward-1ooking statements mandates
dismissal of these claimsisinapposite. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5 (d) (“Nothing in this section shall
impose upon any person aduty to update a forward-looking statement.”).

Courtsin the Third Circuit have only found a duty to update statements which were
truthful when made when the original statement concerned fundamental changes in the nature of
the company, such as mergers or takeover attempts, and when subsequent events produced an

extreme change in the continuing validity of that original statement. See Burlington Coat, 114

F.3d at 1433-34 (refusing to find that a duty to update an ordinary earnings forecast exists).
Because plaintiffs do not allege that defendants should have updated them about devel opments

occurring after the challenged statements were issued, and because none of the challenged
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statements concerned fundamental changes in the structure or business of HHCA, the duty to
updateisirrelevant in this case.

The complaint could be read as alleging that the defendants were under a duty to correct
the challenged statements, and that their failure to do so establishes a separate ground for § 10 (b)
liability apart from their failure to make complete disclosures originally. Section 10 (b) imposes
aduty to correct both historical, and some forward-looking, statements which executives later

discover were false when they were made. See Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1431; Stransky v.

Cummins Engine Co., 51 F.3d 1329, 1331-32 (7th Cir. 1995). To maintain a duty to correct

claim, plaintiffs should identify the specific errors contained in the defendants’ statements and
should identify when these errors were discovered such that the duty to correct was triggered.

See Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1431. Plaintiffsidentified an error in the list of MCO clients

contained in the Form 10-K, but their other allegations concern omitted information rather than
erroneous information. See Complaint, § 76. To construe the complaint as alleging that the
defendants violated their duty to correct inaccurate statements would necessitate reading the
plaintiffs allegations of conscious exclusion of information as allegations that defendants were
originally unaware of the allegedly material omitted information. Such areading would be
inconsistent with the majority of the allegations in the complaint. As plaintiffs have not plead a
duty to correct claim, the complaint should not be dismissed for failure to plead one properly.
V. Allegations Concerning HHCA'’ s Statements to Securities Analysts

In addition to the defendants’ public statements, described above, plaintiffs challenge
several statements which defendants made in the course of briefings with securities analysts.

According to plaintiffs, the analysts then used the information provided by the defendants to
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write reports which were released to the general public. See Complaint, 11 39-44, 65, 67, 80.
Defendants contend that these all egations should be dismissed because they are not
responsible for policing third parties' statements about HHCA, and absent allegations that they
specifically adopted the analysts' reports, they cannot be liable for the reports’ content.™* See
HHCA Defs.” Mem., a 81. Though defendants are correct that public companies have no duty to
“police” analysts' forecasts, companies may be liable for making misrepresentations directly to

analysts. See Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616, 624 (9th Cir. 1998) (en banc); Burlington Coat,

114 F.3d at 1430, n.7; Bell, 17 F. Supp. 2d at 439. Plaintiffs have alleged the | atter; they assert
that HHCA provided analysts with misleading information and the analysts incorporated that
information into their reports and recommendations to investors. Plaintiffs claims concerning
HHCA'’ s representations to analysts must be dismissed not because they fail to state aclaim for
the violation of § 10 (b), but because they fail to state with particul arity when, how, and with
whom the analysts spoke with the defendants.. These claims must, therefore, be dismissed for
failure to comply with Fed. R. Civ. P. 9 (b).

VI.  Compliancewith Rule 9 (b)

1 Defendants also claim that their statements to the analysts were protected by the safe
harbor for oral forward-looking statements contained in the PSLRA. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5
(©)(2) (protecting oral statementsif they are accompanied by cautionary language and contain
references to written documents containing specific cautionary language). Defendants’ argument
has some force with respect to the November 10, 1997, report by a Prudential Securities, Inc.
analyst. See Complaint, 11 80-81. The statementsin that report about which plaintiffs complain
are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the PSLRA because they concern
projections of internal growth and the likely problems of HHCA’s competition. See 15 U.S.C. §
78u-5(i)(1)(C). The alegedly misleading statements which were reflected in reports by
Hambrecht & Quist Inc. and Wheat, First Securities, Inc. are more difficult to discern. See
Complaint, 11 65, 66. These allegations will be dismissed under Rule 9 (b), but plaintiffs may
replead these alegations to specify the alegedly misleading information which these analysts
received from defendants.
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Defendants argue that plaintiffs have generally failed to comply with the requirements of
Fed. R. Civ. P. 9 (b), which demands that fraud be pled with particularity, and the heightened
pleading requirements of the PSLRA. See HHCA Defs’” Mem., at 83-91; see aso supra, part |
(describing pleading requirements). They first complain that plaintiffs have failed to distinguish
among the individual defendants’ alegedly fraudulent actions. Defendants then argue that the
entire complaint should be dismissed because plaintiffs have only plead “fraud by hindsight,”
i.e., that plaintiffs have speculated, based on HHCA'’s February 10, 1998, announcement that the
company would suffer aloss in the second quarter, that defendants must have been aware of
information concerning the potential loss, which they should have disclosed earlier. See HHCA

Defs.” Mem., at 89 (citing Gross v. Summa Four, Inc., 93 F.3d 987, 991 (1st Cir. 1996)

(explaining why pleading “fraud by hindsight” is inadequate)).

A. Distinguishing Among the Defendants

Defendants attack the complaint for its failure to distinguish among the defendants by
specifically pleading each of the defendants’ rolesin the alleged fraud. When the acts of

multiple defendants are alleged to constitute fraud, plaintiffs must separately plead the allegedly

fraudulent acts of each defendant to comply with Rule 9 (b). See Silva Run Worldwide Ltd. v.

Gaming Lottery Corp., No. 96-3231, 1998 WL 167330, at * 11 (S.D.N.Y. April 8, 1998);

Rosenbaum & Co. v. H.J. Myers & Co., No. 97-824, 1997 WL 689288, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 9,

1997) (holding that complaint should clearly enunciate the facts on which plaintiffs base their

claims against each defendant). Here, plaintiffs have adequately plead acts by defendants
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Feldman and Colburn which may subject them to liability under § 10 (b).*? Plaintiffs have failed,
however, to allege acts by defendant Sterensis which amount to fraudulent conduct.
1. Colburn, HHCA’s Chief Financial Officer

Colburn argues that plaintiffs have failed to plead a sustainable claim against him because
they have failed to identify either misstatements or omissions of material fact made by him,
failed to alege that he remained a controlling person throughout the class period, and failed to
allege scienter with respect to him. See Colburn’s Mem., at 3. Colburn was listed as a contact
person on the challenged press releases, and was a signatory to the Form 10-K; the only
challenged statement which he did not sign is the Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on December 2,
1997. Even assuming that Colburn cannot be held liable for the alleged misrepresentationsin the
Form 10-Q, plaintiffs have identified several challenged statements for which Colburnis
responsible. Second, Colburn’s resignation as HHCA’s CFO was not announced until December
18, 1997. See Complaint, 185. Therefore, Colburn can be held responsible for the public
statements he endorsed as HHCA'’s CFO until that date.** Finally, Colburn claims that plaintiffs
have failed to allege that he knew, before early December 1997, either that the MCO

terminations would have an impact on HHCA'’ s second quarter results, or that the goodwill of

12 Defendants do not contest that plaintiffs have adequately specified Feldman'srolein
the aleged fraud. A number of the challenged statements were made by Feldman, heis
identified the contact person on each of the challenged press releases, signed all of the documents
filed with the SEC,, and as the CEO, he was ultimately responsible for all of HHCA’ s public
statements. See Complaint, 1 6, 25, 63, 79, 97, 111.

3 Colburn’s assertion that he cannot be held liable for HHCA'’s actions after December
3, 1997, the date on which he tendered his resignation, does not change the court’s analysis. See
Colburn’sMem., at 2. Colburn’s assertions of fact, however, may not be considered on a motion
to dismiss. See Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1424-25.
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HHCA' s oxygen business would be written down. See Colburn’'sMem., at 9. Colburn
mischaracterizes the information that plaintiffs need to allege that he knew. As described above,
plaintiffs alleged that HHCA failed to disclose the termination of two MCO contracts, not that
HHCA failed to disclose the impact of those contract terminations on HHCA'’ s second quarter
results. If those contracts were materia, as plaintiffs have plead, and if HHCA'’ s unilateraly
decided to terminate them before September 30, 1997, as plaintiffs have aso plead, the omission
of these terminations from HHCA'’s public statements may well be material. These facts
constitute circumstantial evidence creating a strong inference that Colburn knew of the
terminations, and failed to disclose them. Scienter has thus been adequately pled. See

Burlington Coat, 114 F.3d at 1418. Similarly, plaintiffs have plead that HHCA'’ s statements

materially misrepresented the impact of the BBA on its oxygen business, and that HHCA knew,
shortly after the BBA passed, that it would have a serious and detrimental impact on the value of
that business. As described above, these allegations sufficiently plead material
misrepresentations, and contain facts supporting an inference that Colburn knew of the need for,
if not the precise amount, of the goodwill write-down. Seeid.
2. Sterensis, Vice President of Florida Operations

The only alegations specifically concerning Sterensis contend that he isthe Vice
President of Florida Operations, and that an entity associated with him sold 40,000 shares of
HHCA stock between November 21, and November 25, 1997. See Complaint, 11 3, 27, 86 (a),
87,108 (b). Plaintiffs also allege that Feldman, Colburn and Sterensis, as a group, had access to
adverse public information about HHCA, were involved in drafting or reviewing HHCA'’ s

challenged public statements, had the authority to correct HHCA’s misleading public statements,
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and were responsible for their accuracy. See Complaint, 11 29-32. Plaintiffs base these
assertions on each defendant’ s status as HHCA executives or members of HHCA’s Board of
Directors. See Complaint, 1 29-32. They aso assert that each defendant is responsible for the
accuracy of HHCA' s public statements because those statements are “group published
information” and it is reasonable “to presume that the false and misleading information conveyed
in the Company’s public filings. . . [is] the collective action[] of the narrowly defined group of
defendants identified above.” Complaint, 1 30.

Plaintiffs' reliance on the “group published information” doctrine is misplaced given the
PSLRA’ s requirement that allegations of fraud must be plead with particularity. Though the
Ninth Circuit may have previously permitted corporate officers to be found liable for statements
contained in official company documents such as annual reports and press releases, the
continuing validity of this doctrine has been questioned even by district courts under its

jurisdiction. See In re Glenfed, Inc. Securities Litigation, 60 F.3d 591, 593 (9th Cir. 1995)

(alowing liability to attach to corporate officers who participated in day-to-day management
activities); Allison, 999 F. Supp. at 1350 (holding that the group publication doctrineis
inconsistent with the PSLRA’ s pleading requirements because it permits liability based on status
rather than on conduct in contravention of the PSLRA’ s requirement that each act or omission by

each defendant must be plead with particularity); Rasheedi v. Cree Research, Inc., 1997 WL

785720, at * 1 (questioning validity of group published information doctrine in cases where the
PSLRA applies). The court agrees that the group published information doctrine is inconsistent
with the PSLRA’ s pleading requirements, and thus, that specific allegations as to the actions and

scienter of each defendant are necessary.
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Because plaintiffs may not rely on conclusory allegations that Sterensisis responsible for
the omissionsin HHCA's public statements, the claims against him will be dismissed. Plaintiffs
have failed to allege that Sterensis had either the opportunity or the authority to correct public
statements made by other HHCA officers, particularly Feldman. Asrevealed by the Form 10-K,
Sterensisis only one of five regional vice presidents who reported to the Chief Operating Officer,
who is hot anamed defendant. See Appendix, Ex. F, at 7.  Plaintiffs have also failed to allege
that Sterensis made or contributed to any of the challenged statements.

B. Fraud by Hindsight

Contrary to defendants’ characterization of the Complaint, plaintiffs have done more than
claim that some of defendants' forward-looking statements turned out to be wrong. The
remaining claims, those that have not been dismissed for failure to allege a materia
misrepresentation, do not concern forward-looking statements. See supra, part 11.C.1-2. Rather,
those remaining claims allege that defendants possessed specific material information concerning
terminated M CO contracts and the need for awrite-down in the value of HHCA’ s oxygen
business, which they failed to disclose to the public. See Complaint, {1 61-63, 75-77. These
clamsidentify the specific information omitted from defendants’ public statements, and the
specific statements by defendants which should have included this information. Additionaly, the
complaint pleads specific facts indicating that defendants possessed the omitted information at
the time when plaintiffs allege that it should have been included in their public statements. Thus,
defendants' contention that these claims fail to satisfy Rule 9 (b) is without merit.

There are anumber of alegations, however, which plaintiffs have failed to plead with

particularity, chief among them, plaintiffs’ allegations concerning defendants' motive to commit
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fraud. Seesupra, part I11.A. Typicaly, plaintiffs whose complaints are dismissed for failure to

comply with Rule 9 (b) are given leave to amend their complaints. See Burlington Coat, 114

F.3d at 1435. Plaintiffswill therefore, have an opportunity to amend their complaint to plead
these claims properly or face dismissal with prejudice.
CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs have stated valid claims that the September 3, 1997, press rel ease was
misleading because it failed to disclose possible MCO terminations, and that the Form 10-K was
misleading because it failed to disclose that some MCO contracts had been terminated and that a
substantial write down in the value of HHCA’ s oxygen business would be necessary. Plaintiffs
other allegations, however, fail to state claims under 8§ 10 (b) and therefore, defendants’ motion
to dismiss those claims will be granted. Plaintiffs may amend their complaint within 30 days to

replead these allegations.
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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

IN RE HOME HEALTH : CIVIL ACTION
CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

SECURITIES LITIGATION

NO. 98-834

ORDER

AND NOW, this___ day of January, 1999, after consideration of the Defendants
Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 9 (b) and 12 (b)(6), the
plaintiffs reply and the defendants’ responses thereto, IT IS ORDERED that the Motionsto
Dismiss by both Defendant Colburn and by Defendants Feldman, Sterensis and Home Health
Corporation are granted in part. IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that plaintiffs may file a second
amended complaint in accordance with the court’s memorandum, to the extent that they are able

to do so, within thirty days of the date hereof.
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William H. Yohn, Jr., J.



